PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This lawsuit relates to Defendant=s1 tortious acts against Plaintiff (through its employees), and Defendant=s refusal to perform mandatory and ministerial duties to halt such acts, especially as it relates to federal judges and Justice Department employees.

2. Defendant has rendered unlawful and unconstitutional orders:

1. Voiding forever Plaintiff=s right to a federal court forum, as available to other citizens.

2. Voiding forever Plaintiff=s right to a declaratory judgment for declaring personal and property rights, and injunctive relief from massive civil rights violations inflicted upon him.

3. Threatening Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court and federal imprisonment if he exercises these statutory and constitutional rights and protections, or if he reports, as required by Title 18 USC ' 4, federal crime activities.

3. The evidence shows that the intent of Defendant=s tortious acts alleged in this Complaint, and Defendant=s refusal to perform mandatory ministerial duties, was:

1. To block Plaintiff=s reporting of subversive and criminal acts which he initially discovered while he was a federal investigator and which implicated high-level federal officials and other federal employees.

2. To retaliate against Plaintiff for seeking to report these criminal activities. Defendant=s retaliatory acts against Plaintiff were federal crimes, under Title 18 USC '' 241, 1512, 1513. 

3. To protect the convoluted scheme and its perpetrators, and block Plaintiff=s exercise of federal remedies to defend against Defendant=s outrageous conduct.

4. These tortious, criminal, and wrongful acts are detailed and documented in the two books authored by Plaintiff: the second and subsequent editions of Defrauding America and third edition of Unfriendly Skies.
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5. The authority for this action arises under the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 USC '' 1346(b), 2671 et seq., as hereinafter more fully detailed, as further authorized under Title 28 USC '' 1331, 1343, and the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.

6. The FTCA claim relating to this cause of action was presented to the U. S. Department of Justice by letter dated May 16, 1995. That claim was filed less than one year after the last in a series of continuing torts against Plaintiff in the area that is the basis for this claim. That last tortious act by Defendant, and its refusal to prevent or halt it, was the liquidation of Plaintiff=s assets by Defendant on (and after) October 1994. This suit is commenced within six months of the June 26, 1995, denial of that claim by the Administrative Office of the United States Courts, and the August 30, 1995, denial by the U.S. Department of Justice. 


VENUE

7. Plaintiff is exercising his right to select the District of Columbia as the place of venue for this action, as provided by the following provisions of law, and the very serious and unusual circumstances surrounding Defendant=s conduct which bars him from exercising the venue where he resides.

District of Columbia Was the Site of High-Level Wrongful acts 

8. Many of the high-level government employees who refused to perform a mandatory and non-discretionary ministerial duties occupy government offices in the District of Columbia. Plaintiff repeatedly reported to them the civil, constitutional and criminal violations that Defendant=s employees inflicted upon him, requesting that they exercise their responsibilities under federal statutes, including Title 28 USC ' 1343; 42 USC '' 1981-1986; and Title 18 USC ' 4.

9. Among the federal employees who refused to perform their mandatory ministerial duties from 1983 to 1995, were:

1. Each of the U. S. Attorney Generals (including Edwin Meese, Richard Barr, Janet Reno).

2. Employees in the Civil Rights and Trustee Divisions, among others, in the U.S. Department of Justice in Washington, D.C., who were made aware of the wrongful acts alleged in this Complaint, and who refused to provide relief that they were required to provide under law. In this manner they aided and abetted such acts, and every other criminal and other violation charged in this Complaint.

3. Justices of the U. S. Supreme Court, who were made aware of the wrongful acts; and judges in the district of Columbia, including Stanley Sporkin.

4. Members of Congress, who are federal employees, and who had a mandatory duty to prevent and halt the civil rights violations and other wrongful acts, and who refused to do so. 

Defendant=s Wrongful Activities in California-Nevada

10. Federal employees in the State of California deliberately and maliciously perpetrated tortious acts upon Plaintiff that inflicted great and irreparable financial and personal harm upon him. Other federal employees in these states refused to halt such wrongful acts even though they had a mandatory, non-discretionary and ministerial duty to do so. Federal employees within these two groups include Judges Raul Ramirez, Milton Schwartz, Edward J. Garcia, (Magistrate John Moulds), Marilyn Patel, Lowell Jensen, Wayne Brazil, Vaughn Walker, Samuel Conti, Stanley Weigel, Edward Jellen, Robert Jones; each of the judges of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel;  Justice Department employees, including David F. Levi and Joseph Russoniello; Trustee division of Department of Justice, including Anthony Sousa and Linda E. Stanley plus unknown agents; and attorneys, law firms and others acting at the direction of federal employees, including court-appointed trustees Charles Duck and Jerome Robertson; and their law firms of Goldberg Stinnett and McDonald, and Murray and Murray.

Defendant=s Tortious Acts and Omissions in the State of Nevada

11. Federal employees in the State of Nevada inflicted tortious acts upon Plaintiff, and refused to perform a mandatory duty to prevent or halt such acts. These federal employees included Judge Robert Jones in Las Vegas, Nevada, and trustees and attorneys acting at his direction.

Preference is Where Highest Level of Acts of Omissions Occurred

12. Where the choice of venue is between where the act of omission, or the consequences, are concerned, the choice appears to be where the act of omission occurred. Richards v. United States, 369 US 1, 82 S Ct 585, 7 L ed 2d 492 (1962). In this case, the location of the highest level of federal employees who refused to perform a ministerial duty occurred Washington, D.C. The facts also indicate that the tortious acts were directed at that location.

Unprecedented Judicial Acts Voiding Right to Federal Court Forum and Rights and Protections Guaranteed by the Laws And Constitution of the United States Eliminates the Ninth Circuit As An Available Venue Forum 

13. As explained later in this Complaint, Defendant=s employees (Judges in district and appellate courts and Justice Department employees) in California have unlawfully, unconstitutionally, and in a conspiracy, voided for Plaintiff the statutory and constitutional rights specifically provided for the acts perpetrated against Plaintiff, including the right to a federal court access as available to other citizens; the federal remedies necessary to defend against the blatant and outrageous violations of federally-protected rights, including the right to a declaratory judgment (honestly rendered), and to injunctive relief halting the gregarious violations of federally-protected rights. Especially when a citizen is suffering great and irreparable financial and personal harm as being inflicted upon Plaintiff. 
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14. Defendant, through its judges, Justice Department employees, and employees in the court, have blocked Plaintiff from filing any documents in federal court that they have a mandatory ministerial duty to address. Defendant has threatened Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court and imprisonment if he exercises these remedies; or if Plaintiff attempts to make reports of criminal activities to a federal court as required to be reported under Title 18 USC ' 4. Federal officials and other federal employees are heavily involved in these criminal activities. Therefore, Ninth Circuit courts are unavailable to Plaintiff as a venue for Plaintiff, requiring unprecedented deviation from standard judicial practices. This unavailability constitutes another wrongful act by Defendant, as it attempts to block Plaintiff=s reporting of serious subversive and criminal acts, and block Plaintiff=s attempts to utilize constitutional and statutory defenses against the tortious acts taken to silence him.


PARTIES

15. Rodney Stich is the Plaintiff in this action, and resides in the State of California, and simultaneously, in Nevada for part of the time frame covered by this Complaint. 

16. Defendant is the government of the United States, with its headquarters in Washington, D.C. 


FIRST COUNT


(Fraudulent Destruction of Plaintiff=s Assets)


Key Points In the Saga Of Defendant=s Tortious Acts

17. Plaintiff sought to expose criminal and subversive activities that he and a group of former Central Intelligence Agency and other deep-cover people had discovered. These federal crimes implicated federal officials and other federal employees, and were and are inflicting enormous harm upon the United States.

18. Throughout these attempts to report the criminal activities, federal employees misused federal offices and federal power to block Plaintiff=s reporting of these crimes. These federal employees obstructed justice and committed related crimes in the process, including crimes constituting retaliation against informants and victims who attempt to report the crimes or who exercise federal remedies against the retaliation efforts. These federal employees include, for instance, Justice Department employees and federal judges, who later inflicted enormous financial and personal harm upon Plaintiff.
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19. Plaintiff first discovered the early stages of the criminal activities involving federal employees while he was an inspector-investigator for the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), holding federal authority to make similar determinations. Many other inspectors also discovered these criminal activities that were associated with a long series of fatal airline crashes.

20. Plaintiff attempted to report these criminal acts to federal employees in the Federal Aviation Administration, the National Transportation Safety Board, The Department of Justice, and federal judges, each of whom blocked the reports, and thereby obstructed justice, making them co-conspirators. Plaintiff then published books exposing the criminal acts, thereby threatening federal officials and other federal employees. 

21. A judicial scheme was commenced in the California courts to strip Plaintiff of the assets that funded his exposure activities. Without funds, it could be expected that Plaintiff could not continue his activities that threatened to expose federal employees in the criminal activities. This scheme was in the form of a sham lawsuit that was barred by state and federal law.

22. The judicial scheme required the direct and corrupt intervention by state and federal judges, and other federal employees, especially those employed by the various divisions of the U.S. Department of Justice.

23. The judicial scheme was barred by large numbers of California and federal statutes, rules of court, constitutional protections, and related case law, and required California judges to engage in massive civil rights violations, act without jurisdiction under California law, and violate major protections in law.
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24. Every relevant procedural due process protection was then violated by state and federal judges to block Plaintiff=s exercise of state and federal defenses against the judicial acts that inflicted great and irreparable financial and person harm upon Plaintiff through the conspiracy of civil rights and criminal violations.

25. California and federal judges, acting in unison, refused to provide remedies that they had a mandatory ministerial duty to provide. They fabricated excuses for dismissing Plaintiff=s procedural remedies, retaliated against him for exercising these procedural remedies. These retaliatory acts were criminal acts under Title 18 USC ' 241, which makes it a federal crime for two or more people (including judges) to inflict harm upon a citizen for having exercised rights and protections under the laws and Constitution of the United States.

26. The barrage of unlawful and unconstitutional judicial acts by California and federal judges, and the refusal by federal employees to halt these acts when they had a duty to do so, forced Plaintiff to seek refuge in Chapter 11 from the massive number of civil rights violations. As Plaintiff did not foresee at that time, but understand now, federal employees then enlarged upon the earlier civil rights and tortious violations to corruptly seize and loot Plaintiff=s life=s assets, using the pattern of civil, constitutional and criminal violations to perpetrate these tortious acts.

27. Federal employees sought to block Plaintiff=s federal defenses, by voiding for Plaintiff statutory and constitutional defenses. Unlawfully and unconstitutionally, and in a criminal conspiracy, they:

1. Dismissed every lawsuit that Plaintiff filed that was specifically provided by law to defend against these acts.
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2. Rendered orders barring Plaintiff for the remainder of his life from federal court access, and voided for Plaintiff the right to a declaratory judgment, to injunctive relief, and to damages. These orders combined prior tortious acts with refusal to perform a mandatory ministerial duty and concurrently voiding for Plaintiff all remedies available to others under our form of government.

3. Threatened Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court, and imprisonment, if he exercised any federal remedies, including reporting the federal criminal activities that he discovered and including the tortious acts seeking to silence him. Defendant, through its employees, repeatedly carrying out these threats. Plaintiff was therefore unable to comply with the mandatory crime-reporting requirements of Title 18 USC '4, and was subject to federal imprisonment for failure to report federal crimes of which he had knowledge. 

28. The primary purpose of these wrongful acts was to block Plaintiff=s reporting of criminal and subversive activities2 which he discovered while he was a federal and private investigator, and victim; and to retaliate against Plaintiff for attempting to make these reports. 

29. Federal law (Title 18 USC ' 4) required Plaintiff to make reports of criminal activities to a federal court. Federal law also guaranteed to him and all citizens the right to make reports of government corruption (Title 28 USC ' 371; First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution), without suffering the great and irreparable harm that Defendant inflicted upon him, caused to be inflicted, or allowed to be inflicted. 
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30. Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff for trying to make these mandatory reports of subversive and criminal acts against the United States, through:

1. Tortious acts, as described further in this Complaint.

2. Refusal to prevent and halt such acts, while holding government offices requiring such ministerial acts to be performed. 

3. Felony retaliation for seeking to make such reports.

4. Felony retaliation for seeking to defend against the tortious acts perpetrated by Defendant.

31. Defendant=s acts against Plaintiff, in retaliation for seeking to report subversive and criminal acts, constituted felonies under federal law (Title 18 USC '' 1512 and 1513) and tortious acts under the laws of California, Nevada, and the District of Columbia. 

32. Defendant=s acts against Plaintiff, in retaliation for exercising the right to a federal court forum, a declaratory judgment, and injunctive relief from civil rights violations, constitute felonies under Title 18 USC ' 241.

Chronology of Tortious Acts and Reasons for Their Perpetration

33. To understand why Defendant, through its employees, perpetrated the pattern of tortious acts against Plaintiff, and refused to perform mandatory and ministerial duties, it is necessary to recognize how Defendant reacted when Plaintiff=s attempted to report a pattern of criminal activities, which implicated federal officials and other federal employees. Plaintiff had discovered, initially while a federal investigator for the Federal Aviation Administration from 1962 to 1967, a pattern of criminal activities associated with a series of fatal airline crashes that implicated federal officials and other federal employees. As part of his official duties, Plaintiff sought to report and force corrective actions. Plaintiff reported the pattern of crash-related air safety and criminal violations to federal employees in the Federal Aviation Administration, the National Transportation Safety Board, the Department of Justice, and finally, sought to report the federal offenses to federal judges in the San Francisco area, under the mandatory crime-reporting provisions of Title 18 USC ' 4.3 

34. Federal employees engaged in coverup and obstruction of justice-type of activities. In every instance, these federal employees covered up for the federal offenses, making possible the continuation of the air safety and criminal acts, which in turn continued the related fatal airline crashes in that same area for the next 14 years. These employees who obstructed justice included known and unknown employees of the Federal Aviation Administration, U.S. Department of Justice, Department of Transportation, National Transportation Safety Board, federal judges in the Ninth Circuit, and the Justices of the U. S. Supreme Court (who had been made aware of these criminal activities from 1974 through 1995). 
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35. Federal lawsuits seeking to expose Defendant=s corruption. From 1974 through 1982, Plaintiff filed, and had active in the federal courts, several federal lawsuits that sought to report these crimes to a federal judge.4 Plaintiff filed these lawsuits under the mandatory crime-reporting requirements of Title 18 USC ' 4 and the permissive provisions of Title 28 USC ' 1361. After these lawsuits were wrongfully dismissed, Plaintiff filed petitions for writs of certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court. Each of these federal remedies were improperly dismissed, enabling the criminal activities to continue, along with closely-related airline crashes and deaths. 

36. Circumventing obstruction of justice. Plaintiff sought to circumvent Defendant=s obstruction of justice tactics by writing detailed and documented books,5 and appearing as guest and air safety expert on hundreds of radio and television shows. The second edition, released in 1981, named the federal employees who were implicated, including employees of the U.S. Department of Justice and federal judges. Plaintiff also appeared as author and air safety expert on hundreds of radio and television shows, exposing the criminal misconduct by Defendant=s employees. These acts, and the second edition of Unfriendly Skies, prompted the retaliatory acts against Plaintiff.

37. Plaintiff=s assets funded these exposure activities. Without these assets, it would be expected that Plaintiff could no longer continue these exposure activities. This in turn would lessen the danger that Defendant=s criminal activities would be exposed. Using corrupt means, federal employees had the power to violate the law, seize the assets, and deny to Plaintiff statutory and constitutional remedies. This was done.


START OF CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATIONS

38. Start of judicial tactics to silence Plaintiff. Shortly after the U. S. Supreme Court dismissed the last of Plaintiff=s petitions for writ of certiorari in 1982, a sham lawsuit6 was filed against Plaintiff in 1982 that was given a fictitious label, causing Plaintiff to immediately lose control over the assets that funded his exposure activities. This lawsuit was then used as the basis for an ongoing series of corrupt judicial acts upon Plaintiff.  

39. The fictitious label placed on the sham lawsuit was to permit it being filed under the California Family Law Act. The lawsuit fraudulently stated that it was a proceeding to terminate an alleged existing marriage, and to divide the alleged community property.

No Legal Basis Existed To Support the Sham California Proceeding

40. Plaintiff had been divorced for the preceding two decades, and all properties owned by him in personal and corporate name had been acquired years after a 1964 separation in Colorado and a 1966 bilateral consent divorce. California had no connection with either party at that time. The absence of a marriage and absence of a basis for the lawsuit under the Family Law Act was clearly evident by:

1. The parties had been legally divorced for the prior two decades, while the parties were residents and domiciles of states and jurisdictions foreign to California. The marriage was terminated in a bilateral consent divorce proceeding that ended in a judgment of divorce, and finalized all property and other rights or obligations arising from the prior marriage.
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2. Plaintiff thereafter had the 1966 judgment entered as a local judgment in five different states as he changed his residence during the next 20 years.7 Under the law of those states, and under federal law, those judgments and the personal and property rights established by the judgments, must be recognized by all state judges. 

3. The property rights Plaintiff acquired during 20 years of divorced status must also be recognized under federal and state law in the states that Plaintiff resided before moving to California. 

4. Blocks of California8 and federal law,9 as well as state law where the divorce judgments were entered, required recognizing the 1966 divorce; recognizing the separate property status of each party; and recognizing the absence of any spousal support obligations.
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5. Absence of jurisdiction over Plaintiff was established under California law.10 Any prior divorce judgment deprives a California judge of jurisdiction under the Family Law Act.

6. The Texas "client," Emma Stich, who was used as the catalyst in the sham divorce action, had been declaring herself divorced from Plaintiff since 1966 as she purchased and sold real estate. In 1984, while the San Francisco law firm continued to seek a termination of the alleged marriage, their Texas client declared herself divorced from Plaintiff to the Social Security Administration for the purpose of obtaining higher Social Security payments. The federal government, through the Social Security Administration, recognized the validity of the 1966 divorce for the purpose of paying her higher Social Security payments. This Texas resident simultaneously declared herself married in the California action so as to obtain additional financial benefits.

7. Neither party had any physical or other relationship with each other following the 1966 divorce. 

8. The Texas resident was engaging in open fraud and a conspiracy for the purpose of financial enrichment. 
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41. The sham lawsuit scheme was carried out by a law firm11 that Plaintiff later discovered was a front or cutout for the U.S. Department of Justice and the Central Intelligence Agency. Both of these federal entities were threatened by Plaintiff=s exposure activities.

42. In addition to the law and constitutional protections already violated, other federally-protected rights were violated, which provided additional basis for federal judges to perform their mandatory ministerial duty to provide relief. The constitutional rights that were violated included: 

1. Fourteenth Amendment due process protection. 

2. Equal protection of the law right. 

3. Right to unabridged interstate travel, guaranteeing that citizens could change residence to another state without losing personal and property rights acquired in prior jurisdictions of residence; 

4. Article IV, ' 1 (Full Faith and Credit Clause), and Title 28 U.S.C. ' 1738, that required recognition of the personal and property rights in the California divorce judgment, its entry for recognition as local judgments in the courts of Nevada, Oklahoma, and Texas; 

5. Privileges and Immunity Clause rights under Article IV, ' 1, and under the 14th Amendment (depriving right to obtain divorce on universally recognized residence basis, and right to change residence).

43. Despite the state and federal requirement that the prior judgments be recognized, and despite the absence of any legal marital relationship, or any relationship, and despite the absence of jurisdiction under California law, California judges at every level acted in unison with the Friedman law firm, rendering orders that inflicted great and irreparable personal and financial harm upon Plaintiff.

Frivolous Labels On Exercise of Legal Defenses Against Civil Rights Violations

44. California judges in the Superior Courts and Appellate Courts sought to protect their massive violations of state and federal law, of civil rights, by repeatedly placing a frivolous label on Plaintiff=s appeals and oppositions, reversing the legal and common-sense definition of the work, and using that sham label to dismiss each and every procedural remedy. (This practice became the standard pattern used by federal judges to protect the judicial activities in the state courts and block Plaintiff=s federal defenses against these major violations of federally-protected rights.)

State Judicial Retaliation For Exercising Constitutional and Statutory Protections

45. California judges repeatedly retaliated against Plaintiff for exercising appeal and other remedies that were specifically provided by California law. These remedies were exercised on the basis that the California judges lacked jurisdiction under the California Family Law Act, based upon any of the five prior divorce judgments; that large numbers of California and federal statutes, rules of court, constitutional protections, and related case law, required that all state courts recognize the prior judgments and the personal and property rights established in the judgments and the property rights acquired during two decades of divorced status. 

46. These retaliatory acts were felonies under federal crime statute, Title 18 USC ' 241, which occurred on the basis of the retaliation for exercising rights and protections under the laws and Constitution of the United States.
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47. The Friedman law firm initiating the record number of civil rights violations filed dozens of lis pendens upon Plaintiff=s properties in the sham Adivorce@ action, inflicting huge financial losses upon Plaintiff as mortgages that came due for renewal on $10 million in properties could not be renewed.

 
Invoking Mandatory Ministerial Duty of Federal Judges

48. These acts were clear-cut civil rights violations for which federal remedies exist. The judicial acts in the sham California action inflicted great and irreparable financial and personal harm inflicted upon Plaintiff, and constituted major federal causes of action for which federal district judges had mandatory ministerial duties to: 

1. Provide a federal court forum for the federal causes of actions stated by Plaintiff in the lawsuits. 

2. Render a declaratory judgment to:

1. Declare the validity of the prior divorce judgments under federal law and the law of the five different states and jurisdictions;

2. Declare the validity of the personal and property rights established in the judgments;

3. Declare the validity of property rights acquired by Plaintiff during the 20 years following the divorce, which property rights were acquired while a resident of different states. (Title 28 USC '' 2201, 2202.) 

3. Provide injunctive relief from the civil rights violations. (Title 42 USC 1983-1986; 18 USC ' 1343.)

1. Provide relief from the criminal retaliation for having exercised rights and protections under the laws and Constitution of the United States.

2. Provide for financial damages. 

49. Defendant, through its federal judges and other federal employees, from 1983 through 1995, refused to perform these important ministerial duties, by:
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1. Repeatedly denying Plaintiff a federal court forum. Every lawsuit was promptly dismissed, either without any hearing, or shortly thereafter. Never were the issues raised in Plaintiff=s complaint addressed, and never was a declaratory judgment rendered or the issues adjudicated. 

2. Refusing to render a declaratory judgment.

3. Refusing to provide relief from the civil rights violations. 

4. Aiding and abetting the violations of federally protected rights.

5. Protecting the parties perpetrating the wrongful acts.

6. Placing a frivolous label on Plaintiff=s lawsuits, reversing the legal and common-sense definition of the word, and using that sham basis to Ajustify@ the denial of federal remedies.

7. Ordering Plaintiff to pay over $100,000 in financial sanctions to the Friedman law firm perpetrating the civil rights violations in a criminal conspiracy, in retaliation for Plaintiff having exercised remedies specifically authorized and guaranteed by federal statutes and the Constitution.

8. Rendering unlawful and unconstitutional orders barring Plaintiff access to federal courts, and voiding for him the rights and protections in the statutes and Constitution especially provided for the type of violations inflicted upon Plaintiff. 

9. Repeatedly, from 1986 to 1995, charging Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court for seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, which to this day is urgently needed. 
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50. To this day, the need and the legal right to obtain a declaratory judgment12 exists, and Defendant refuses to provide this relief. Plaintiff continues to suffer great and irreparable financial and personal harm as a result of Defendant=s refusal to perform this mandatory duty. 

51. After Plaintiff recognized the link between his attempts to expose criminal activities in government, the pattern of outrageous judicial torts inflicted upon him, and the judicial retaliation for exercising state and federal remedies, Plaintiff recognized the relationship. Commencing in 1986, Plaintiff commenced including in his federal lawsuits a demand to report the criminal activities that he had uncovered. (A reporting requirement provided by Title 18 USC ' 4.) In every instance, federal judges, including Justices of the U.S. Supreme Court, blocked the reporting of these crimes. From 1990, Plaintiff became a confidant to many former Central Intelligence Agency deep-cover people, and learned of criminal activities involving federal officials and other federal employees that were far more serious that what he had already discovered. In 1990 he commenced making these charges in federal filings and demanded that he be allowed to present his and other people=s testimony and hard evidence concerning the subversive and criminal activities against the United States.

Aiding and Abetting the Outrageous Civil Rights Violations

52. Ninth Circuit federal judges, from 1986 to 1995, rendered unlawful and unconstitutional orders barring Plaintiff from filing any federal action, appeal or other statutory and constitutional remedy and protection, as available to other citizens. In this way, federal employees have:

1. Blocked Plaintiff=s reporting of subversive and criminal activities that he and a group of former deep-cover Central Intelligence Agency and other employees discovered.

2. Protected and encouraged the escalation of the civil and constitutional violations against Plaintiff, both in the California courts and in federal courts. 

3. Increased Plaintiff=s federal causes of action and right to federal court access, which in turn increased the risk of exposing the misconduct involving federal employees. This required perpetrating the tortious acts alleged in this lawsuit so as to protect themselves from criminal and other consequences.

53. These corrupt judicial acts insured the success of the sham California action, and protected the perpetrators of the civil rights violations inflicted upon Plaintiff, as well as the federal judges openly aiding and abetting these wrongful acts, 

Defendant=s Retaliation Against Plaintiff

54. Ninth Circuit judges and Justice Department employees in Sacramento, San Francisco, and Oakland, California, retaliated against Plaintiff when Plaintiff filed federal lawsuits seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. They:

1. Repeatedly ordered Plaintiff, from 1983 to 1994, to pay huge financial sanctions to the Friedman law firm responsible for the civil rights violations.
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2. Repeatedly charged Plaintiff, from 1986 through 1995, with criminal contempt of court for exercising specific federal remedies intended to halt the great and irreparable financial and personal harm arising from the violation of federally protected rights. These retaliatory acts were criminal violations under Title 18 USC ' 241.

3. Repeatedly charged Plaintiff, from 1986 through 1995, with criminal contempt of court for seeking to report the criminal and subversive activities that he uncovered as a federal and private investigator, and as a victim. These were criminal acts under Title 18 USC '' 1512 and 1513, and violate criminal acts related to obstruction of justice.

4. Repeatedly sentenced Plaintiff to federal prison on contempt of court charges that were retaliation for filing federal actions seeking to report the federal criminal activities and for attempting to halt the harm being suffered.

Defendant Tortious Acts, Refusal To Perform Mandatory Ministerial Duties, and Felony Retaliation, Forced Plaintiff To Seek Relief in Chapter 11

55. The tortious acts and omissions, and civil rights violations, inflicted upon Plaintiff in an obvious conspiracy, forced Plaintiff to seek refuge in Chapter 11.13 Plaintiff sought to protect his financially healthy personal and corporate assets by forcing a federal judge to render a declaratory judgment upholding the validity of the personal and property rights established in the five judgments, and order a halt to the massive civil rights violations occurring in the sham California Adivorce@ action. This may have been the first Chapter 11 filing in which relief was sought from the civil, constitutional, and criminal violations inflicted upon a citizen by high-level federal employees misusing federal offices and the enormous power of the federal government. The cases were filed in Las Vegas in 1987, and continued until Defendant looted the entire $10 million in assets which occurred in 1995. At that time, Plaintiff=s assets were in excellent financial condition, and the only relief he sought was for the civil rights violations that federal judges had a mandatory duty to provide. 

Continuing the Pattern of Tortious Acts by Federal Employees

56. After Plaintiff exercised the statutory protections of Chapter 11, federal judges and Justice Department employees at Las Vegas, Sacramento and San Francisco, continued the previous pattern of tortious acts and omissions. These wrongful acts and omissions commenced by Judge Robert Jones in Las Vegas included the:

1. Refusal to render a declaratory judgment. If that judgment had been rendered, and if it had complied with the law, it would have halted the California judicial violations and harm occurring in the sham divorce action, eliminating the need to obtain Chapter 11 protection. The Chapter 11 judge had a mandatory duty to render that declaratory judgment which would have immediately eliminated the pattern of civil rights violations that forced Plaintiff to seek refuge in Chapter 11.

2. Refusal to order a halt to the serious civil rights violations perpetrated against Plaintiff in the California courts which had forced Plaintiff to seek relief in Chapter 11 courts. This refusal to perform a mandatory duty encouraged an increase in the frequency and severity of the civil rights violations. 

3. Rendering of orders financially rewarding and protecting the Friedman law firm and their Texas client who initiated the civil rights violations. These financial rewards were paid through liquidation of Plaintiff=s life=s assets.
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57. During one of the first hearings in mid-1987, Judge Robert Jones ordered the removal of the lis pendens placed upon Plaintiff=s assets in the sham California action; rendered an order refusing to accept jurisdiction; and ordered that the cases be dismissed in 60 days. This relief eliminated any need for Plaintiff to be in Chapter 11, and it saved his $10 million in assets.

58. Subsequently, unknown federal employees caused Judge Jones to ignore this relief, ignore his refusal to accept jurisdiction, and render orders unlawfully and unconstitutionally seizing Plaintiff=s life=s assets. It is believed that these instructions came from high-level officials in the Department of Justice at Washington, D.C.

Void Orders Seizing Plaintiff=s Assets

59. Several weeks after Judge Jones rendered the order refusing to accept jurisdiction and ordering that the cases be dismissed in 60 days, Judge Jones signed orders on August 10, 1987, seizing Plaintiff=s Chapter 11 assets. These orders violated federal statutes and constitutional protections intended to protect citizens against the very acts these federal judges were perpetrating, and were rendered:

1. Without and in violation of the statutory requirement of a noticed hearing. 

2. Without and in violation of the constitutional requirement for a hearing and due process. 

3. Without jurisdiction, based upon Judge Jones= earlier refusal to accept jurisdiction. That order had never been vacated, or subject to a hearing to vacate.

4. Without any legally-recognized cause for seizing Plaintiff=s Chapter 11 assets. The law requires either dishonesty or gross mismanagement, neither of which were alleged, nor existed.

5. Fraudulently. The orders of October 8, 1987, seizing Plaintiff=s assets fraudulently stated that there was a hearing on that date concerning the matter, and that the orders arose out of that hearing. Court records show there was no such hearing; no notice of such hearing.

6. With many other statutory violations associated with the seizure of Plaintiff's assets. 

7. Under federal case law, these orders constituted void orders. 

60. At the request of the Friedman law firm, whose civil rights violations forced Plaintiff to seek relief in Chapter 11, Judge Robert Jones transferred the Chapter 11 cases to Oakland, California. That law firm had no standing in the Chapter 11 cases; was not a creditor; was the party whose civil rights violations forced Plaintiff to seek relief in Chapter 11; and was the law firm that was a cutout or a proprietary for the U.S. Department of Justice and the Central Intelligence Agency, both of whom had a vested interest in destroying Plaintiff=s ability to expose government corruption.

61. Immediately after seizing Plaintiff=s assets, federal judges turned the assets over to trustee Charles Duck,14 who had been repeatedly reported by people who had filed Chapter 11 as engaging in criminal fraud, and looting the assets. In concert with the court-approved law firm of Goldberg, Stinnett and McDonald, trustee Charles Duck looted the once financially healthy $10 million estate, de facto turning it into a Chapter 7 liquidation. 
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62. Among the many fraudulent and criminal acts perpetrated by this and subsequent court-appointed trustees and law firms were the following:

1. Refused to file the judicial order removing the lis pendens associated with the sham California divorce action. It was those lis pendens that forced Plaintiff to exercise Chapter 11, seeking to force a federal judge to perform a mandatory duty.

2. Cancelled refinancing that Plaintiff had arranged, which would have paid off all mortgages that had come due, and which could not be refinanced earlier due to the lis pendens.

3. Turned Plaintiff=s assets over to a trustee known to be engaging in looting of assets (who was subsequently imprisoned following an examination of three other cases).

4. Ordered Plaintiff out of his businesses, despite the fact that his expertise built up the successful operations, and Chapter 11 filings permit continued operation of the businesses.

5. Liquidated Chapter 11 assets for pennies on the dollar, covertly turning a Chapter 11 case into a Chapter 7 liquidation.

6. Fraudulently cancelled long-term mortgages, replacing them with high-interest, high fee-generating, short 2-year loans, that inflicted enormous financial harm upon the assets. This tactic generated huge refinancing fees and churning fees for the trustee and his law firm.
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7. Liquidated Plaintiff=s assets to pay money to the San Francisco law firm of Friedman, Sloan and Ross and their Texas client, whose civil rights violations associated with the sham divorce action inflicted enormous financial and personal harm upon Plaintiff. The payment of these funds sought support in a 1988 California Adivorce@ judgment that was rendered without jurisdiction under California law (due to absence of a marriage in a Family Law Act proceeding), and that violated blocks of state and federal statutes, rules of court, constitutional protections, and related case law.

8. Refused to protect the estate against the sham California law suit and judgment that constituted void orders under California and federal law.

9. Disappearance of hundreds of thousands of dollars through fraud by trustee Charles Duck.

10. And numerous other fraudulent acts, including looting of assets, churning, that constituted a pattern of fraud, conspiracy, civil rights violations, all of which were aided and abetted by federal judges, who refused to provide relief when Plaintiff requested such relief.

63. Each of these corrupt acts were brought to federal judges in the Ninth Circuit district and appellate courts via appeals and petitions, and in each case relief was denied. Petitions for writ of certiorari were filed with the Justices of the U.S. Supreme Court, and they also protected the criminal activities occurring in their areas of supervisory responsibilities.

64. Plaintiff later learned through his Central Intelligence Agency contacts that trustee Charles Duck and Northern California U.S. Trustee Anthony Sousa were CIA assets, and that the CIA was engaged with federal judges and other federal employees in looting Chapter 11 estates.

Massive Judicial and Justice Department Corruption in Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Courts

65. Plaintiff personally observed, and later obtained a Justice Department document revealing massive judicial and trustee corruption in the same Ninth Circuit courts, which supported what he had personally observed and experienced.

Damage Control

66. Media publicity on the corruption involving federal judges, trustees, cooperating law firms, in the Ninth Circuit federal courts were increasing to where the entire racketeering activities were threatened. Federal employees addressed this threat by charging trustee Charles Duck with fraud, entering a lenient plea agreement, and implying to the media that the bankruptcy court fraud was now corrected. Duck was sentenced to federal prison shortly thereafter. This relationship is described in detail in the second and subsequent editions of Defrauding America. 

67. An investigator in the San Francisco office of the U.S. Trustee uncovered massive amounts of judicial and other corruption in the Ninth Circuit bankruptcy courts, and his failure to cover up for these criminal activities caused Justice Department officials in Washington to terminate his employment. Another example of how Justice Department officials prevented exposure of their criminal involvement in the bankruptcy courts was the Inslaw case in which the bankruptcy judge was terminated when he exposed these government crimes.

Continued Looting of Assets By Subsequent Court-Appointed Trustee

68. After trustee Duck was sentenced to federal prison, Judge Edward Jellen turned Plaintiff=s consolidated Chapter 11 cases over to trustee Jerome Robertson and the law firm of Murray and Murray. This new trustee and law firm partnership continued looting Plaintiff=s assets, with Defendant=s approval. 

69. Judge Jellen and the trustee and law firm that he appointed, corruptly and tortiously sold off Plaintiff=s assets to pay $2,000 monthly to the Texas resident who was the catalyst for the sham divorce action. This $2,000 was allegedly spousal support ordered in a sham 1988 Adivorce@ judgment by a California judge, rendering a dissolution of marriage judgment, when there had not been a marriage or any relationship for the prior 22 years. These payments were a reward for the Texas resident to engage in the fraud and conspiracy with the parties described in this Complaint. Defendant paid for her role in the criminal conspiracy. 

Final Looting of Plaintiff=s Assets To Reward Those Implicated In the Civil, Constitutional and Criminal Violations & Conspiracy

70. In 1994, as the original $10 million in assets were almost totally looted, trustee Jerome Robertson requested the court to approve the payment to the Friedman law firm of $169,507. 68; and to the Texas resident who served as the catalyst in this criminal conspiracy $51,094. 76. These fees constituted a reward for cooperation in the scheme to block Plaintiff=s reporting of the subversive and criminal acts, through inflicting great and irreparable financial and personal harm through civil rights violations perpetrated in a criminal conspiracy.

Protecting Defendant=s Outrageous Conduct By Rendering Orders Blocking Plaintiff From Exercising the Federal Protections To Halt These Civil Rights and Criminal Violations

71. Federal Judge Jellen duplicated the conduct of U.S. district judges, rendering unlawful and unconstitutional orders barring Plaintiff from filing appeals or other oppositions that were needed to defend against the civil rights and criminal violations. Those orders were in effect from 1987 to the present date, voiding for Plaintiff the statutory and constitutional right to federal court access, to appeals and oppositions, and voiding all relevant rights and protections in federal statutes and Constitution. 

72. After Plaintiff exercised appeal and other remedies provided by the laws and Constitution of the United States, Judge Jellen charged Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court. He then denied Plaintiff legal counsel, refused to allow Plaintiff to testify, and then sentenced Plaintiff to federal prison. This conviction was upheld by U.S. District Judge Samuel Conti, without allowing Plaintiff to submit briefs or testify. The Justices of the U.S. Supreme Court refused to provide relief when petitions were submitted to the Court, even though the tortious acts were perpetrated by judges over whom they had supervisory responsibilities and vicarious financial and criminal liabilities.

Felonious Contempt of Court Charges Associated with Obstructing Justice

73. Defendant, through its judges, U. S. Attorneys, Justice Department officials, repeatedly, from 1986 through 1995, charged Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court in retaliation for:

1. 

1. Filing lawsuits seeking a declaratory judgment. The declaratory judgment was to declare the validity of five divorce judgments entered in five different states, the personal and property rights established in those judgments, and the property rights acquired during three decades of divorced status. These rights were being violated and destroyed in a sham California action that was riddled with major violations of state and federal statutes, rules of court, constitutional protections, and related case law. These violations constituted major federal causes of action for which federal judges had mandatory and non-discretionary duty to provide a declaratory judgment, and to provide injunctive relief from the civil rights violations.

2. Filing lawsuits seeking injunctive relief from a pattern of hard-core civil rights violations that were inflicting great and irreparable financial and personal harm upon Plaintiff. Plaintiff had repeatedly sought to have a federal judge perform the mandatory and non-discretionary duty of providing injunctive relief from an ongoing pattern of hard-core civil and constitutional violations that were inflicted in a criminal conspiracy. 

3. Filing lawsuits to report the criminal activities that Plaintiff and former Central Intelligence Agency and other deep-cover people had discovered. Plaintiff would have been guilty of a crime under Title 18 USC ' 4 if he had not made such filing.

Five Years Of Ongoing Threat of Imprisonment, Constitutional Deprivations, and Other Tortious Acts

74. In November 1990, Judge Marilyn Patel ordered Plaintiff arrested and incarcerated, claiming that Plaintiff violated an earlier order rendered in 1987 in a civil lawsuit seeking declaratory and injunctive relief that she had dismissed without a hearing. That 1987 dismissal, without any hearing, violated statutory and constitutional protections. That lawsuit sought a declaratory judgment, which had been repeatedly denied by federal judges from 1983 to 1995. That lawsuit also sought relief under the Civil Rights Act and other federal statutes (including Title 28 USC ' 1343) from the ongoing civil rights violations occurring in the sham California action. After wrongfully dismissing that 1987 lawsuit, Judge Patel rendered an unlawful and unconstitutional order barring Plaintiff the right to ever file for relief in any federal court, under any federal statute or constitutional protection, as available to others. Her order causing Plaintiff to be incarcerated without a hearing was also without jurisdiction, as there was no case pending at that time over which she could have had jurisdiction over Plaintiff. These activities were felonies under Title 18 USC '' 241, 1512, 1513.

75. On December 10, 1990, the U.S. Attorney in San Francisco filed a criminal contempt charge against Plaintiff, demanding that Plaintiff be incarcerated until a non-jury trial could be held. His crime? He sought to report the criminal activities implicating federal officials and other federal employees, and he sought to halt the great financial and personal harm judicially inflicted upon him. The case was assigned to Judge Vaughn Walker. Plaintiff was release on condition that he does not travel outside of a small area in Northern California and a narrow strip to Reno, Nevada. Plaintiff was also required to report weekly to a parole officer. This deprivation of the right to travel was based upon an unlawful and unconstitutional order voiding for Plaintiff all access to federal court and the rights and protections under federal statutory and case law, and based upon an order rendered in a lawsuit that was unlawfully and unconstitutionally dismissed.

76. From the date of that December 1990 release until approximately July 1995, Plaintiff was deprived of major constitutional rights, his quality of life was greatly deteriorated, his ability to defend against the civil, constitutional and criminal violations inflicted upon him were voided. He was put in fear of imprisonment for exercising rights guaranteed by the laws and Constitution of the United States.

77. The intent of Judge Patel=s actions was to:

1. 

1. Block Plaintiff=s reporting of the crimes that he had discovered, which by this time were much more serious than what he had originally uncovered.

2. Protect the people perpetrating the enormous civil rights violations in the sham California action.

3. Protect the federal judges, trustees, Justice Department employees, and other federal employees, who had engaged in a clear conspiracy to violate Plaintiff=s civil and constitutional rights, to block his reporting of the subversive and criminal acts.

78. Plaintiff requested relief from the Ninth Circuit district courts, from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, and the Justices of the United States Supreme Court. Each of them refused to accept the filings. In this manner these federal employees in high positions of public trust, misused their sensitive positions to engage in criminal and other federal violations.  

79. In approximately July of 1995 Plaintiff discovered accidentally that the U.S. attorney, who had charged Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court, had dropped the charges, without advising Plaintiff. That office has refused to advise Plaintiff why the charges were dropped. 

80. The threat of incarceration blocked Plaintiff from exercising the federal defenses specifically legislated to defend against the civil, constitutional, criminal, and tortious acts inflicted upon Plaintiff by federal employees. 

1. 

81. Each of these federal employees aided and abetted every substantive and procedural rights and protection under state and federal laws and Constitution that were violated by large numbers of federal employees in the scheme to block Plaintiff=s reporting of the crimes in which these same employees were now implicated. These include Title 18 USC '' 241, 1512, 1513, and the criminal offenses associated with obstructing justice.

Plaintiff Is Under Continuing Threat Of Imprisonment In State Court

Tragic Status Arising From Defendant=s Tortious Acts

82. As a result of Defendant=s tortious acts, and refusal to perform a mandatory ministerial duty, Plaintiff has suffered enormous financial and personal losses. For instance, the refusal to render a declaratory judgment declaring under the laws and Constitution of the United States and of the five states in which the judgment is entered, Plaintiff has:

1. Been reduced financially from a net worth of $10 million to zero.

2. His source of income has been reduced from the comfortable income arising from $10 million in assets to the amount of his Social Security, being approximately $550 monthly.

3. He had been evicted from his home.

4. All of his businesses have been looted and destroyed.

5. He is saddled with a $2,000 monthly spousal support payment in the sham 1988 California Adivorce@ action which he is unable to pay due to Defendant=s corrupt seizure and looting of his life=s assets. He risks being sentenced to state prison for failure to pay this spousal support order, despite the fact that the order was a sham, void under state and federal law, but unable to obtain an order declaring it to be a sham and void.

Tortious Acts, and Refusal To Perform Mandatory Duty To Provide Relief, Violated Mandatory Ministerial Duties

83. Defendant=s tortious acts, and acts of omission, were not discretionary functions. Defendant had ministerial duties to halt such acts, and continues to refuse to perform these duties. Defendant violated federal civil rights and criminal statutes, and engaged in tortious acts. Acts are discretionary when decisions involve issues constituting judgment and choice involving a balancing of social, economic or political considerations. Each of the preceding duties, and those that follow, were mandatory ministerial acts. Where the duty to act, and how to act, is so clearly prescribed as to be free from doubt, and equivalent to a positive command, it is ministerial. 42 Am. Jur. 422. When a federal employee=s duties, including that of judges, are mandatory in the language of the statutes, such as requiring rendering a declaratory judgment, or relief from civil rights violations, these duties are mandatory. Consequently, federal judges have no discretion as to whether they will perform their mandatory duty or not.

Federal Judges Could Have Fraudulently Performed Their Mandatory Ministerial Duties, Rendered a Declaratory Judgment in Violation of Law, Address the Civil Rights Violations, and Rendered a Fraudulent Decision In Violation of Law 

84. Federal judges could have avoided liability for refusing to perform these mandatory ministerial duties by rendering a declaratory judgment, addressing the issues during trial that were raised by Plaintiff, and fraudulently rendered decisions in gross violation of law. In this way they could have claimed they performed their duty, and Plaintiff would have been powerful, in light of the appellate court=s aiding and abetting of the wrongful acts. By refusing to perform these mandatory ministerial duties of providing a federal court forum, a declaratory judgment, and addressing the civil rights violations during trial, they openly incurred liability for the government; the Defendant.

85. Defendant=s actions and refusal to perform mandatory duties are not shielded by the discretionary function exception. Defendants, including judges and Justice Department employees, lacked discretion to knowingly and deliberately violate dozens of clear and settled statutes, rules of court, constitutional provisions, and Supreme Court decisions relating to these protections. Defendant=s actions in inflicting great harm upon Plaintiff, year after year, and refusal to provide relief that its was required to perform by clearly worded statutes and constitutional provisions, shocks the conscience and makes Defendant guilty of gregarious torts. 

86. The discretionary function exception in the Federal Tort Claims Act does not provide government immunity when Afederal statute, regulation, or policy specifically prescribes a course of action for an employee to follow.@ (Including of course, judges.) Kennewick Irrigation Dist. V. United States, 880 F.2d 1018, 1025 (9th Cir. 1989) (quoting Berkovitz v. United States, 486 U.S. 531, 536 (1988).

87. It is mandatory ministerial duty, and not a discretionary activity, when a U.S. district judge or other federal employee:

1. Refuses to render a declaratory judgment when the criteria of the law has been met requiring such judgment. For argument, rendering a declaratory judgment but reaching a decision contrary to law can be claimed to be a discretionary function; but not the refusal to render the judgment.

2. Refuses to render a decision on the massive civil rights violations inflicted upon Plaintiff. Plaintiff made allegations in the Complaint that must be accepted as true at that point. 

3. Render orders barring Plaintiff from court access, as is available to all other citizens.

4. Refuses to receive evidence of hard-core subversive and criminal acts implicating federal employees. 

5. Charge Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court for exercising rights and responsibilities under federal law. These include the right to federal court access; for seeking a declaratory judgment; for seeking relief from civil rights violations that have inflicted devastating financial and personal harm upon Plaintiff.

6. Charge Plaintiff with criminal contempt of court for filing appeals and other federal remedies addressing the corrupt seizure of Plaintiff=s life=s assets, and the subsequent looting and destruction of the former $10 million financially healthy estate. 

7. Conducts official functions in a criminal manner, and in a conspiracy to do so.

8. Aids and abets the criminal activities Plaintiff sought to report, engaging in a conspiracy to obstruct justice and related criminal acts.

9. Order the seizure of a citizen=s properties in clear and outrageous violation of federal statutory and constitutional law, and in a criminal conspiracy. 

10. Engage in conduct that aids and abets federal crimes, covers up for such crimes, engages in obstruction of justice and conspiracy to obstruct justice. No discretion or authority to do these corrupt acts.

Defendant=s Deliberate Perpetration Of Harm Upon Plaintiff

88. The wrongful acts addressed in this lawsuit do not constitute a discretionary function exception. The purpose of this exception is to protect the ability of the government to proceed with decision-making in carrying out its unique and vital functions without second-guessing by the courts as to the appropriateness of its policy choices. Misusing the awesome federal power, and offices holding the public trust, engaging in a pattern of hard-core human rights violations, violating federal criminal statutes, are not immunized acts. The broad purpose of the Federal Tort Claims Act is to compensate victims of negligence or misconduct of governmental activities in circumstances like those in which a private person would be liable. AThe Tort Claims Act reflects a strong public policy, recognized by Congress to protect the citizenry from torts committed by the public servants, to lift the risks that may be ruinous if left to lie upon the individual victim of the particular accident, to adopt respondeat superior as it is understood in the law of the states, and to achieve an allocation and apportionment of the loss among not a relatively small segment of the consuming public, but among the entire federal taxpaying public. @ Platis v. United States, 228 F Supp 254, 274 (D Utah 1968), aff=d 409 F2d 1009 (10th Cir 1969). Exceptions from tort liability do not apply when any federal employee fails to exercise due care; they refuse to perform a discretionary duty, or they performed a duty in a criminal manner. These were among the wrongful acts of Defendant.

1. 

89. The United States is liable under the Federal Tort Claims act Ain the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances. @ 28 U. S. C. ' 2674, and Ain accordance with the law of the place where the act or omission occurred,@ 28 U. S. C. ' 1346(b). As provided under Title 28 USC ' 1346(b), this lawsuit is [1] against the United States; [2] for money damages; [3] for injury and loss of property, for personal injury; [4] caused by the negligent and wrongful act or omission of employees of the government; [5] while acting within the scope of their office and employment; [6] under circumstances where the United States, if a private person, would be liable to the claimant in accordance with the law of the place where the act or omission occurred. This claim is authorized by Title 28 USC ' 2675(a), which reads in part:

A . . . claim against the United States for money damages for injury or loss of property or personal injury or death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the Government while acting within the scope of his office or employment, . . . 

Engaging In a Pattern of Criminal Acts and Civil Rights Violations While Acting in Official Capacity Are Not Discretionary and Immune Acts

90. Acts that clearly constitute criminal offenses,15 or major civil rights violations, when perpetrated by anyone, are not discretionary and immune acts. It is not a discretionary and immune act when a federal judge, paid and entrusted to uphold the laws and Constitution of the United States, misuses his or her position to perpetrate the criminal acts described in this Complaint. Absolute judicial immunity, a judicially-self-serving doctrine, does not protect a judge knowingly acting outside of the law, especially if it is obviously criminal in nature. Dalchite v. United States, 346 U. S. 15, 73 S. Ct. 956, 97 L. Ed. 1427 (1953). It is not a discretionary and immune act when federal judges, government employees or others acting under judicial direction, perpetrate the acts charged in this Complaint.

91. Defendant tortiously violated federal statutory and case law, and constitutional protections, committing tortious acts under the laws of the states of California and Nevada, and the District of Columbia.

92. Defendant refused to perform a mandatory ministerial duty. 

93. Defendant knew, and intended, for Plaintiff to suffer great and irreparable harm.

94. The harm suffered by Plaintiff was caused and brought about through Defendant=s deliberate tortious acts, and its refusal to perform a mandatory duty. This includes Defendant, its agents, servants, and employees, acting within the scope of their office or employment.

95. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant, its agents, servants, and employees, had a mandatory duty to protect Plaintiff against the acts that were being perpetrated against him, and had a mandatory duty to comply with the law, rather than violate it to Plaintiff=s great harm. 

1. 

96. This suit against Defendant for its deliberate wrongful acts, and its refusal to perform mandatory, non-discretionary, ministerial duty, does not infringe upon essential functions of government. On the contrary, misusing government offices in this manner is criminal in nature, and not a proper function of government. 

97. If Defendant was a private person, it would be liable to the Plaintiff in accordance with the law of the states of California and Nevada, and the District of Columbia.

98. Plaintiff has no other remedies against the outrageous government misconduct charged in this complaint, other than damages under the Federal Tort Claims Act. 

99. Plaintiff includes with this Complaint, and incorporates it as a part of this filing, a copy of the second edition of Defrauding America, which details and documents the tortious, wrongful, and criminal acts by Defendant.

100. As a result of the above deliberate and malicious torts, the unlawful, unconstitutional and criminal actions, and omissions to perform a mandatory duty, Plaintiff suffered the loss of his life=s assets, which in 1987 consisted of $10,000,000. 

101. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant in the sum of ten million dollars and costs.

 

COUNT TWO


(Loss of Earnings)

102. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs by reference, as if stated fully in this Count. 

103. As a result of the above deliberate torts and refusal to perform a mandatory ministerial duty, Plaintiff suffered the loss of earnings that would have continued from his investments.

104. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant=s conduct, Plaintiff suffered the loss of at least $200,000 per year, which continues at this time. Therefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $5,000,000.

1. 


COUNT THREE


(Fraudulent and Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage)

105. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs by reference, as if stated fully in this Count. 

106. As a result of Defendant=s deliberate torts, and refusal to perform a mandatory ministerial duty, Defendant fraudulently and intentionally interfered with Plaintiff=s prospective advantage. This loss is estimated to be at least $10 million.

107. Therefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant in the sum of $10 million, and costs. 


COUNT FOUR


(Negligent Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage)

108. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs by reference, as if stated fully in this Count. 

109. As a result of Plaintiff=s negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, and refusal to perform a mandatory ministerial duty, Plaintiff lost the increased value of his estate, and the profits from increased investments. 

110. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $10,000,000. 


COUNT FIVE


(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress)

111. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs by reference, as if stated fully in this Count. 

112. As a result of the above tortious acts and refusal to perform a mandatory ministerial duty, Plaintiff suffered from 1987 to the present day from the intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

1. 

113. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000. 


COUNT SIX


(Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress)

114. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs by reference, as if stated fully in this Count. 

115. As a result of Defendant=s negligence, and refusal to perform mandatory ministerial duties, Plaintiff suffered from the negligent infliction of emotional distress.

116. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $1,000,000. 


COUNT SEVEN


(Destruction of Quality of Life)

117. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs by reference, as if stated fully in this Count. 

118. As a proximate result of Defendant=s tortious acts and refusal to perform mandatory ministerial duties, Plaintiff was deprived of the quality of life that he had earned and acquired. 

119. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT EIGHT


(Deliberate Destruction of credit worthiness for the remainder of Claimant's life)

120. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

121. As a proximate result of Defendant=s tortious acts and refusal to perform mandatory duties, Plaintiff=s credit worthiness was destroyed, and he has been unable to obtain credit since 1987.

122.  Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT NINE


(Refusal to perform a fiduciary duty owed to Claimant)

123. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this count. 

124. As a proximate result of Defendant=s tortious acts and refusal to perform mandatory ministerial duties, and refusal to perform a fiduciary duty, Plaintiff suffered great and irreparable financial and personal harm. 

125. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT TEN


(Intentional Violation and Deprivation of civil and constitutional rights)

126. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

127. As a proximate result of Defendant=s tortious acts and refusal to perform mandatory ministerial duties, including the intention violation and deprivation of Plaintiff=s civil and constitutional rights, Plaintiff suffered great and irreparable financial and personal harm. 

128. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT ELEVEN


(Fraud)

129. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

130. Defendant engaged in a pattern of fraud against Plaintiff, and a conspiracy to do so. 

131. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT TWELVE


(Damages based upon one or more felony conspiracies)

132. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

133. Plaintiff=s perpetrated acts that constituted federal crimes, and thereby inflicted great and irreparable financial and personal losses upon Plaintiff.

134. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT THIRTEEN


(Violation of fiduciary duties, and refusal to perform fiduciary duties)

135. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

136. Defendant violated its fiduciary duties to Plaintiff and under the laws of the United States, and did so in a pattern of fraud, in a conspiracy, which constitutes tortious acts under the laws of the states of California and Nevada. These acts and omissions contributed to the financial and personal harm suffered by Plaintiff.

137. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT FOURTEEN


(Torts Associated With Criminal Acts)

138. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

139. Defendant engaged in criminal acts against Plaintiff, which are torts under the laws of the states of California and Nevada. These criminal acts resulted in Plaintiff=s financial and personal losses.

140. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT FIFTEEN


(Invasion of Privacy)

141. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

142. Defendant=s tortious acts caused invasion of Plaintiff=s privacy.  

143. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.

 
COUNT SIXTEEN


(Fraudulent and Felonious Acts Against Plaintiff)

144. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

145. Defendant inflicted felonious acts upon Plaintiff by charging him with criminal contempt of court for having sought to report criminal acts implicating federal employees, and for exercising statutory and constitutional right to a federal court forum and the protections against the violations of federally-protected rights that were inflicted upon Plaintiff.

146. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000. 


COUNT SEVENTEEN


(Fraudulent Taking of Liberties and Freedom)

147. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

148. Defendant=s conduct resulted in a taking of Plaintiff=s liberties and freedom, from 1983 to 1995. This taking was part of the conspiracy to block Plaintiff=s reporting of federal crimes and to retaliate against him for seeking to make such reports.

149. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000. 


COUNT EIGHTEEN


(Abuse of process)

150. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

151. Defendant=s acts constituted an abuse of process. 

152. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.


COUNT NINETEEN


(Conspiratorial Violation of Due Process)

153. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and all of the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this Complaint with the same effect as if stated in this Count. 

154. Defendant=s acts constituted a conspiratorial violation of due process. 

155. Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the sum of $2,000,000.


DEMAND TO REPORT PATTERN OF FEDERAL CRIMES

156. Title 18 USC ' 4 makes it a federal crime for anyone (including federal judges) who know of a federal crime, failing to promptly report it to a federal court or other federal tribunal. Plaintiff is prepared to provide to a proper panel arranged by a federal judge the reporting of subversive and criminal activities. These reports would take the form of:

1. Plaintiff testifying about the criminal activities that he discovered, commencing while he was a federal investigator, and then continuing while he was a private investigator and also a victim of criminal activities.

2. Plaintiff providing documents and an explanation of the document=s significance, that would reveal the existence of criminal activities.

1. 

3. Producing witnesses to testify, including some who are former Central Intelligence Agency, Drug Enforcement Agency, and other deep-cover personnel, and others who were directly involved in the activities.

4. The criminal activities that Plaintiff has focused upon involve federal officials and other federal employees, and include federal employees in the Central Intelligence Agency, the Drug Enforcement Administration, various divisions of the Justice Department (and especially the criminal division, U.S. Trustee division, the FBI), Federal Aviation Administration, and especially federal judges.

5. The wrongful dismissal of this lawsuit continues Defendant=s pattern of judicial corruption and tortious acts.

157. It has become especially important that a federal judge receives this evidence because of the heavy involvement of Justice Department officials in the criminal acts. Evidence supports the fact that the tortious acts inflicted upon Plaintiff by Defendant, through Justice Department employees and federal judges in the Ninth Circuit, were intended to block Plaintiff=s reports of these crimes, to retaliate against him for making such reports, and in the process, committing numerous federal crimes, including conspiracy to obstruct justice. This court has the choice of aiding and abetting these wrongful acts, or of performing a mandatory duty in accordance with the criminal and other laws of the United States.

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

158. Plaintiff therefore demands an award of costs and attorneys fees and a declaration of relief as set forth below:

1. As to Count One, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. 

1. For the sum of $10,000,000.

2. As to Count Two, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $5,000,000.

3. As to Count Three, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $10,000,000.

4. As to Count Four, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $10,000,000.

5. As to Count Five, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

6. As to Count Six, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

7. As to Count Seven, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $1,000,000.

8. As to Count Eight, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

9. As to Count Nine, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

10. As to Count Ten, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

11. As to Count Eleven, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

12. As to Count Twelve, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

1. 

13. As to Count Thirteen, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

14. As to Count Fifteen, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

15. As to Count Sixteen, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

16. As to Count Seventeen, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

17. As to Count Eighteen, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the sum of $2,000,000.

18. As to Count Nineteen, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

1. For the Sum of $2,000,000.

19. Costs of bringing this action

20. Reasonable attorney fees; and

21. Such other relief as deemed proper.

1 Reference to ADefendant@ throughout this Complaint includes officials and other employees of the U.S. government. The term Aemployees@ includes all levels of government employees, and those acting in concert with them.

2 The criminal activities include: (a) widespread and deeply entrenched pattern of CIA and DEA drug smuggling into the United States, by CIA and DEA personnel, aided and abetted by persons in Customs, Justice Department, DEA, and others; (b) converting federal chapter 7 and 11 courts into criminal enterprises through looting of Chapter 11 assets by a conspiracy consisting of corrupt federal judges, trustees, covert Justice Department and CIA law firms; (d) CIA treasonous scheme known as "October Surprise," and its felony coverup; (e) Inslaw corruption involving Justice Department personnel and federal judges; (f) Operation Mount Rushmore, a CIA/Mossad scheme to assassinate Bill Clinton in San Francisco; (g) criminal coverup and obstruction of justice by Justice Department personnel, federal judges, and others, of each of these and other crimes; (h) felony persecution of informants, whistleblowers, and protesting victims by federal judges and prosecutors; (i) involvement of California judges in helping to carry out several of these schemes, including a ten-year pattern of judicial acts against Rodney Stich while violating blocks of California and federal statutes and constitutional protections, making them co-conspirators. 

3 Title 18 U.S.C. ' 4 (misprision of felony). "Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of a felony cognizable by a court of the United States, conceals and does not as soon as possible make known the same to some judge or other person in civil or military authority under the United States, shall be fined not more than $500 or imprisoned not more than three years, or both."

4 Stich v. United States, et al., 554 F.2d 1070 (9th Cir.) (table), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 920 (1977)(addressed hard-core air safety misconduct, violations of federal air safety laws, threats against government inspectors not to report safety violations and misconduct); Stich v. National Transportation Safety Board, 685 F.2d 446 (9th Cir.)(table), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 861 (1982))(addressed repeated criminal falsification of official airline accident reports, omitting highly sensitive air safety misconduct, making possible repeated crashes from the same sequestered problems); Amicus curiae brief filed on July 17, 1975, in the Paris DC-10 multi-district litigation, Flanagan v. McDonnell Douglas Corporation and United States of America, Civil Action 74-808-PH, MDL 172, Central District California.)(addressing the long standing FAA misconduct, of which the coverup of the DC-10 cargo door problem was one of repeated instances of tragedy related misconduct); U.S. v. Department of Justice, District of Columbia, Nos. 86-2523, 87-2214, and other actions filed by claimant seeking to expose and correct the powerful and covert air disaster misconduct. 

5 Three editions of Unfriendly Skies, the first of which was published in 1978, the next, 1980, and then 1990.

6 Superior Court, Solano County, No. 83472. Even though Plaintiff had been legally divorced since a bilateral consent divorce action in 1966, and five divorce judgments established that fact, and Plaintiff had not seen his former wife in years, the Texas resident was used as a catalyst in the sham divorce action claiming that she wanted a divorce, and that all of Plaintiff=s assets were thereby community. 

7 (List of divorce judgments showing divorced status and property rights final and conclusive as of January 31, 1966. (1) Initial 1966 divorce judgment following a bilateral consent divorce proceeding, rendered by jurisdiction of residence for five months, State of Chihuahua, Mexico, No. 189723, authenticated by U.S. Consul; (2) Registration and confirmation of the 1966 divorce judgment in the Superior Court, Contra Costa County, action number 251773, under C.C.P. ' 1699(b) and C.C. ' 5164; (3) Registration of the Contra Costa divorce judgment confirmation in the Superior Court, Solano County, State of California, action 91929; (4) Judicial entry of the Contra Costa county confirmed judgment into the Nevada courts, Second Judicial District of Nevada, County of Washoe, case number 85-5391 and into foreign judgment registry, number 31; (5) Registration of the 1966 divorce judgment in the District Court of Oklahoma County, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, Case number FD-86-5870; (6) Registration of the Contra Costa confirmed judgment in the Civil Courts of Dallas County, Dallas, Texas, in Volume Two, Page 78, Foreign Judgment Register. 

8 Mandatory divorce judgment recognition statutes (Civil Code '' 4554, 5004, 5164; Code of Civil Procedure '' 1699(b), 1713.3, 1908, 1913, 1915 (effective when the 1966 judgment was rendered and for nine years thereafter); Evidence Code '' 666, 665, 622; (statute of limitations, Civil Code '' 880.020, 880.250; Code of Civil Procedure '' 318, 338, 343; Statute of limitations: Code of Civil Procedure 318, 338, 343; Civil Code '' 880.020, 880.250; mandatory requirement to recognize that the prior court acted in the lawful exercise of its jurisdiction when the judgment is under attack two decades after its exercise of jurisdiction, and the acceptance of the benefits by both parties: Evidence Code '' 666, 665, 622; California Full faith and credit statutes: Civil Code '' 5004 (Full Faith and Credit Requirement); 4554 (final and conclusive effects of prior judgment, local, foreign state, foreign country); C.C. ' 5164 (a filed custody decree has the same effect as a California judgment); C.C. ' 1713 (a foreign state judgment is conclusive between the parties); C.C.P. ' 1908 (effect of a California judgment is conclusive between the parties (and this conclusiveness applies to foreign judgments under, inter alia, C.C. ' 5164.

9 Full Faith and Credit statute (28 U.S.C. ' 1738) and constitutional clause (Article IV, ' 1). Case law requiring recognition: Vanderbilt v. Vanderbilt (1957) 354 U.S. 416 (requiring the recognition of ex parte divorce judgments; Estin v. Estin (1948)(requiring the recognition of prior divorce judgments); Sherrer v. Sherrer (1948) 334 U.S. 343; Coe v. Coe (1948) 334 U.S. 378 (requiring the recognition of prior divorce judgments); Perrin v. Perrin, 408 F.2d 107 (3rd Cir. 1969) (prohibiting denying recognition to prior judgments when exercised on one day's residence). In Jordon v. Gilligan, 500 F.2d 701, 707 (6th Cir. 1974) the court held: "Decisions of the United States Supreme Court rendered by written opinion are binding on all courts, state and federal. The court's holding is stare decisis and cannot be overruled except by the court itself."

10 California law depriving California judges of jurisdiction under the California Family Law Act to attack and void any of the five prior divorce judgments. Rules of Court 1201(c)(defines jurisdiction under Family Law Act, and limits jurisdiction to termination of an existing marriage, legal separation from an existing marriage, nullity of prior marriage, excluding attacks upon any of the five prior judgments); 1211 (limits parties to existing wife and husband); 1212 (limits cause of action to those stated in the Rule 1281 petition form and 1282 response form, which do not include attacks on prior judgments); 1215 (limits causes of action to those stated on the Rule 1281 petition for dissolution of marriage form); 1222 (limiting jurisdiction to altering marital status as provided on form 1281); 1229(a), which prohibits inserting any matter in the 1281 petition for dissolution of marriage form or the 1282 response form that is not printed on the face of the form, and which contains no provisions for attacking prior judgments); 1230(a)(2) (which deprives court of jurisdiction if there is a prior judgment); 1281 (petition for dissolution of marriage form, limiting causes of action to those stated on the form--which does not include attacks upon prior judgments); 1282 (response form, limiting response to the statements on the form, which provides no provision to answer cause of action attacking prior judgments); Civil Code ' 4351 (limits jurisdiction to causes of action stated in Rule 1201(c) and 1281), ' 4503 (limits cause of action to those stated on Rule of Court form 1281 and 1282 (which excludes attacks upon prior judgments). 

11 Debtor later discovered that the Friedman, Sloan and Ross law firm was a covert law firm for the Central Intelligence Agency and the U.S. Department of Justice.

12 Title 28 U.S.C. ' 2201. Creation of remedy. "In a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction, any court of the United States, upon the filing of an appropriate pleading, may declare the rights and other legal relations of any interested party seeking such declaration, whether or not further relief is or could be sought. Any such declaration shall have the force and effect of a final judgment or decree and shall be reviewable as such.

Title 28 U.S.C. ' 2202. Further relief. "Further necessary or proper relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree may be granted, after reasonable notice and hearing, against any adverse party whose rights have been determined by such judgment."

13 The court numbers given to these two cases in the Oakland bankruptcy courts were 487-05974J and 487-05975J.

14 Plaintiff's CIA contacts described the role played by Charles Duck (plus specifically named federal judges and U.S. trustees) in CIA operations, in which looting of Chapter 11, 12, 13 assets are a standard practice, perpetrated in a criminal fashion through massive violations of civil and constitutional rights, as in Debtor's case.

15 These federal offenses included, for instance: Title 18 U.S.C. ' 1505 (obstructing proceedings before federal courts, and earlier, before FAA, NTSB, before federal grand jury, to prevent presenting testimony and evidence of federal offenses); ' 1512 (tampering with a witness or informant, and specifically, preventing Stich's communication to a federal court of the federal air safety and criminal offenses, using felonious means to block such federal proceedings); ' 1513 (retaliating against a witness, victim, or an informant, and specifically against Stich, to prevent his reporting of the federal crimes by federal officials); '' 1961-1965 (RICO violations, by conspiring to harm an informant, and adversely affecting interstate and international commerce); ' 241 (conspiracy against rights of any citizen, including conspiracy that violated wholesale numbers of federally protected rights); ' 371 (conspiracy to commit offense against, or to defraud, the United States); ' 1951 (interference with interstate and international air commerce, and specifically the FAA, NTSB, wrongful acts, and blocking and retaliating against Stich for seeking to report federal air safety and criminal acts affecting air safety); ' 2 (principal); ' 3 (accessory after the fact); ' 4 (misprision of felony); ' 35 (imparting or conveying false information); ' 2071 (Concealment, removal, of official reports); ' 34 (changing federal offenses to capital offense when death results); ' 111 (impeding FAA inspectors or other federal employees); ' 1621 (perjury, at FAA hearing); ' 1623 (subornation of perjury, at FAA hearing); ' 1623 (false declarations before federal grand jury); 28 U.S.C. ' 1343 (Failure to prevent the violations of a person's civil and constitutional rights); Title 42 U.S.C. '' 1983-1986 (Violating civil and constitutional rights of another, conspiracy to do so, failure to prevent the violations when the ability and responsibility to do so exists); Treason, Art 3 ' 3 of US Constitution.
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